ORIGINAL

RECEIVED  
OCT 01 2015  
SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM BEAUFORT COUNTY  
Master in Equity

The Honorable Marvin H. Dukes III, Master in Equity

Case No. 2015-000342

Maxine Taylor, Respondent,

v.

Heirs of William Taylor, Heirs of E. Washington, Heirs of Phoebe Taylor, Heirs of Albertha Goodwine, and all persons unknown designated as a class; Richard Roe, and Beaufort County, SC, a body politic, Defendants,

Of whom Heirs of William Taylor, Heirs of E. Washington, Heirs of Phoebe Taylor, and Heirs of Albertha Goodwine are the Appellants.

Stanley Taylor, Joe A. Taylor and Martha T. Brown, Respondents,

v.

## STATEMENT OF ISSUES

The Appellants submit their final brief on the following issue(s):

1. Whether the master erred in awarding the northern and southwestern portion of Lot 9, originally identified on the 1965 tax map as Parcel 5, to Respondents when Respondents could not show a chain of title to the subject property and Appellants established ownership to the property.
2. Whether the master erred in awarding the northern and southwestern portion of Lot 9, originally identified on the 1965 tax map as Parcel 5, to Respondents when Appellants established title to the property through adverse possession by residing on the property for generations, farming and cultivating the land, paying taxes on the property and being recognized as the owners of the property by Respondents and Respondents' ancestors.
3. Whether the master erred in awarding the northern and southwestern portion of Lot 9, originally identified on the 1965 tax map as Parcel 5, to Respondents when Appellants established title to the property through a presumption of grant.
4. Whether the master erred in awarding the northern and southwestern portion of Lot 9, originally identified on the 1965 tax map as Parcel 5, to Respondents when the boundary line was recognized and acquiesced by the parties for the statutory period as shown by the Respondents' deeds and the conduct of the parties through the decades.
5. Whether the master abided by the requirements of Rule 52(a) of the South Carolina Rules of Civil Procedure when he failed to set forth specific findings of fact to support his ruling in the Final Order.

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Appellants were the defendants in the Court of Common Pleas for the Fourteenth Judicial Circuit in Beaufort County, South Carolina and will be referred collectively as the Heirs of William Taylor or as the Appellants. The Respondents, Maxine Taylor, Stanley Taylor, Joe A. Taylor and Martha T. Brown, will be referred to as the Respondents.

Respondent, Maxine Taylor, filed a Complaint on June 14, 2011 against the Appellants seeking to quiet title for 3.82 acres of property on Warsaw Island designated in Lot 9 with TMP number R300-9-5. (R. pp. 10-12.) Appellants filed their Answer on November 17, 2011. (R. pp. 13-14.) An Amended Answer was filed on June 20, 2013 alleging adverse possession. (R. pp. 21-24.) Respondents, Stanley Taylor, Joe A. Taylor and Martha T. Brown, filed a Complaint on June 19, 2012 against the Appellants seeking to quiet title for land in Lot 9 recorded in Plat Book 97, page 173 at the Office of the Register of Deeds for Beaufort County, South Carolina. (R. pp. 15-18.) Appellants filed an Answer on July 20, 2012. (R. pp. 19-20.) An Amended Answer was filed on June 20, 2013 alleging adverse possession and trespass. (R. pp. 25-28.) Both cases were subsequently consolidated.

A trial was held before Marvin H. Dukes III, Master in Equity on July 29, 2013. (R. p. 29.) The case was continued and the record left open at the request of the master to allow the parties to acquire more information. The second day of trial was held on April 8, 2014. (R. p. 302.) The Court requested post-trial briefs be submitted. Both parties submitted post-trial briefs to the master. (R. pp. 510-521.) Judgment was entered in favor of the Respondents on February 9, 2015 and was mailed to the parties on February 16, 2015. (R. p. 2; R. p. 4.) The Appellants received the judgment on February 20, 2015. (Notice of Appeal 2.) Appellants filed a timely notice of appeal on February 26, 2015.

## STATEMENT OF FACTS

Trial was held on this case on July 29, 2013 and April 8, 2014. Respondents filed a quiet title action for Lot 9 of Warsaw Island. (R. p. 10; R. p. 15.) Lot 9 totaled approximately 10 acres. (R. p. 77, lines 20-23.) In support of their claim, the Respondents submitted the following deeds:

- A 1937 deed from Josephine Taylor to Phoebe Taylor for four (4) acres instead of five (5) acres due to erosion;
- A deed from Phoebe Taylor to James Taylor for 1 1/6 acres; and
- Two tax sale deeds to James Taylor, each for 1.3 acres, originating from the 1937 deed for four (4) acres.

(R. p. 76, line 24-p. 77, line 17; R. pp. 424-435.) Phoebe Taylor is James Taylor's mother and James Taylor is the father of the Respondents, Maxine Taylor, Martha Brown and Stanley Taylor.

(R. p. 145, lines 9-14.) No other deeds were made to James Taylor, Maxine Taylor, Martha Brown or Stanley Taylor other than the deeds mentioned above totaling approximately 4 acres. (R. p. 77, lines 24-p. 78, line 4.)

Lot 9 originated from the survey of H.G. Judd in the late 1880s. He subdivided the northern portion of Warsaw Island into lots. (R. p. 56, lines 5-12; R. p. 443.) Originally, according to the Judd Platt, Lot 9 was owned by E. Washington. (R. p. 443.) None of the parties knew E. Washington. (R. p. 93, lines 14-18.) Lot 9 was later separated into parcels. In 1965, it consisted of Parcel 5, Parcel 6 and Parcel 6A. Parcel 5 as indicated on the tax map contained approximately 6 acres. (R. p. 80, lines 3-5; R. p. 421.) It was being taxed to the Appellants, the Heirs of William Taylor. (R. p. 80, lines 12-16.) Billy Taylor, the father of William Taylor, purchased the land from the Union for one cent an acre and purchased a total of 6 acres. (R. p. 342, lines 3-20.) It encompasses land north of Warsaw Road and a portion south of Warsaw Road. (R. p. 344, lines 2-6.)

Cherise Chisolm, a title researcher who had been researching titles for 18 years, was able to analyze the Respondents' deeds to make a determination on their property location. The first deed she located was for four (4) acres from Josephine Taylor to Phoebe Taylor:

[A]ll of that certain piece, parcel or lot of land, situate, lying and being on Wassa Island in the County and State aforesaid, being bounded on the north by lands now or formerly of Estate of Sam Mattis, on the east by lands now or formerly of George Taylor, on the south by lands now or formerly of Estate Ben Gardner, and on the west by lands now or formerly of Estate of William Taylor, the tract hereby being conveyed originally contained five (5) acres but, on account of constant erosions, is now considered to be four (4) acres, more or less, and is the same tract inherited from my first husband, Ben Taylor, deceased.

(R. p. 182, lines 16-23; R. p. 435.) While the description on the deed was vague, Ms. Chisolm was able to pinpoint a starting area at the southeast corner of Lot 9 shown on the H.G. Judd Plat.

(R. p. 183, line 19-p. 184, line 4; R. p. 443.) Out of this deed, there were three conveyances. (R. p. 182, line 24-p. 183, line 5.)

The first noted conveyance was through deed to James Taylor for 1 1/6 acres included in Deed Book 102, page 152. (R. p. 182, line 25-p. 183, line 2.) Specifically, it stated:

Beginning at a point where the lands of Gardner meet this tract on a public road, thence Northerly for a distance for 413 feet, more or less, thence due West for a distance of 146 feet to lands of the Estate of William Taylor, thence South along the lands of Taylor for a distance of 418 feet, more or less to the lands of Gardner, East for a distance of 149 feet, more or less to the public road and Point of Beginning.

(R. p. 424.) According to Ms. Chisolm, when looking at the H.G. Judd Plat, the lands designated as Lot 10, owned by Ben Gardner, intersects the property on the southeast point. She also saw from the 1954 tax map that there was a public road, thereby establishing a corner for the conveyance. (R. p. 184, lines 13-25.) She started from that point and followed the deed's

description, confirming that the general vicinity of the 1 1/6 acres conveyed to James Taylor would be the southeast portion of Lot 9. (R. p. 185, lines 1-11.)

The other two conveyances were both by tax deed for 1.3 acres in the 1990s. (R. p. 183, lines 3-5; R. pp. 474-477; R. pp. 501-504.) According to Ms. Chisolm, approximately four (4) acres were in James Taylor or his family for Lot 9. (R. p. 183, lines 6-12.) She found nothing to indicate that James Taylor or his family owned all of Lot 9. (R. p. 183, lines 6-12.) However, because the tax sales occurred after the parcels were switched, the tracts described in the tax sales are of the wrong location. (R. p. 188, lines 1-5; R. pp. 472-509.) Prior to the parcel switch, Parcel 6 and Parcel 6A were south of Warsaw Road. (R. p. 80, lines 6-11; R. p. 454; R. pp. 460-461.) Parcel 6, consisting of three (3) acres was owned by Phoebe Taylor. (R. pp. 457-458.) Parcel 6A consisting of 1 1/6 acres was owned by James Taylor. (R. pp. 424-426.) The rectangle indicated on the 1964 tax map identified as Parcel 6A, and David Youmans, a land surveyor for the Respondents, agreed, encompasses where a brick house belonging to James Taylor was located. (R. p. 94, line 1-p. 95, line 6; R. p. 421; R. p. 443.) However, as indicated by Cindy Spencer, a real estate title abstractor with Paralegal Services, Inc., sometime in the 1970s or 1980s, the parcels were switched. Parcel 6 and Parcel 6A were shown in a 1986 tax map as north of Warsaw Road and Parcel 5 was shown as south of Warsaw Road. (R. p. 118, lines 1-2.) Debbie Standifer, a real property transfer clerk with the Beaufort County Assessor's Office, confirmed that the parcels had, in fact, been switched. (R. p. 316, line 16-p. 317, line 12.) Parcel 5 had been taxed to the Heirs of William Taylor since 1954, and they continued to be taxed even after the parcel switch. (R. p. 134, lines 1-2.) The Heirs of William Taylor had documentation illustrating they were consistently recognized as the owners of the six (6) acres in Lot 9:

- Property record card from 1954 stating that the Heirs of William Taylor own Parcel 5 which consisted of six (6) acres;

- Appraisal sheet from 1985 showing where a house was removed for tax purposes on the Heirs of William Taylor's property located at District 300, Map 9, Parcel 5 for six (6) acres; and
- Ariel photographs prepared by Barry Reas, an employee for the Beaufort County G.I.S. Department, showing how the land was occupied and utilized for farming.

(R. p. 319, line 19-p. 322, line 2; R. p. 330, line 25-p. 333, line 24; R. pp. 455-456; R. p. 459; R. pp. 462-465.)

Following the parcel switch, Phoebe Taylor, the Respondents' grandmother, failed to pay the taxes on Parcel 6. The delinquent tax notices were sent to Phoebe Taylor in care of James Taylor to Mr. Taylor's address on Gardner Lane. (R. p. 379, lines 2-25.) Appellants did not receive notice of the tax sale. The individual that purchased the properties at the 1995 and 1997 tax sale was James Taylor. (R. p. 380, line 10-p. 381, line 10.) Each purchase was for 1.3 acres, totaling 2.6 acres. (R. p. 381, line 11-p. 382, line 10.) According to Kimberly Chesney, a tax collector for the Treasurer's Office, when the Treasurer's Office is conducting a tax sale, they get the information to describe the property from the Assessor's Office. (R. p. 378, lines 1-8; R. p. 382, lines 13-24.) While reviewing the 1965 tax map of the subject properties, Ms. Chesney explained what would occur if the parcels were switched:

Q. I'm going to show you Defendant's Exhibit Number 8. And that has been identified as 1954 tax map revised in 1965. And working in the treasurer's office you are familiar with the tax maps, right?

A. Uh-huh.

Q. All right. I'm going to draw your attention to what is depicted here as Parcel Number 5 consisting of six acres north of Wassaw Road, if I tell you this is Wassaw Road - -

A. Uh-huh.

Q. -- tied into a piece south of Wassaw Road. All right? And then here is Parcel 6 all south of Wassaw Road. If these were flipped and then 6 went to tax sale, this would have been the property sold at tax sale renumbered from 5 to 6; is that correct?

A. If this was switched and described as Parcel 6 then, yes, that is what we took to the tax sale, if that is what you are asking me.

Q. That is exactly what I was asking you.

A. Yeah.

Q. So if 5 and 6 had not been switched, and Phoebe Taylor stopped paying the taxes on 6, as it's depicted in Defendant's Exhibit 8, then the parcel south of Wassaw Road depicted at 6 would have been the parcel that went up for tax sale? Is that question correct?

A. Yes, Parcel 6 did go up for tax sale. If it was here, then that is the parcel that would have went.

Q. Okay. By "here" you mean south of Wassaw Road?

A. Yes, sir.

Q. As depicted on the '94 -- the 1954 tax map revised in 1965?

A. That's correct.

(R. p. 384, line 13-p. 385, line 22; R. p. 454.) Adding Phoebe Taylor's four (4) acres and the Heirs of William Taylor's six (6) acres reflects the ten (10) acres originally allotted in Lot 9. (R. p. 138, lines 7-15; R. pp. 455-456.) While the parcel numbers were inadvertently switched, it did not change the ownership of the properties. (R. p. 324, lines 8-10.)

Georgia Champion and Willie Mae Stewart, Ms. Champion's younger sister, confirmed that they lived with their grandparents, Rufus and Mary Taylor, on Lot 9 until 1972 when their grandmother died. (R. p. 199, lines 10-16; R. p. 227, lines 1-25.) Ms. Champion currently lives on Lot 7. (R. p. 199, lines 6-7.) Her grandparents' house was above Warsaw Road and east of the house she lives in today. (R. p. 199, lines 17-24; [Def. Ex. 3 -- *separately filed*].) Ms. Champion

and Ms. Stewart's grandparents owned a two-story house and farmed and raised livestock in the northern and southwestern portion of Lot 9. (R. p. 199, line 10-p. 202, line 12; R. p. 228, line 1-p. 229, line 23; R. p. 232, lines 3-12; R. p. 241, lines 13-20; R. p. 247, line 25-p. 248, line 24; R. p. 252, lines 20-23; [Def. Exh. 4. – *separately filed*].) They had a cow pasture and the stakes and wire are still visible in the marsh. (R. p. 229, lines 10-23.) The mobile home that Ms. Brown erected on the property is where the hog pen was located and there was a stable behind Ms. Champion's residence. (R. p. 201, lines 3-8; R. p. 229, lines 7-9; [Def. Exh. 3 – *separately filed*].) They grew cotton next to Maxine Taylor's brick house. It was next to a large oak tree that divided the properties. (R. p. 201, line 18-p. 202, line 10.) Her grandmother, Mary Taylor, died in 1972 so her mother and uncle rented out the house. The house caught fire and the last tenant, who Ms. Champion believed was named Willie, had to move out. (R. p. 203, lines 1-8.) A 1985 appraisal sheet shows that the house located on the Heirs of William Taylor's six (6) acre property, District 300, Map 9, Parcel 5, was removed for tax purposes that year. (R. p. 459.)

In 1997, Ms. Champion moved back to the area and asked Chief Ellis with Lady's Island Fire Department if he could do anything for the house because she was interested in placing her house there. (R. p. 203, lines 11-15.) Chief Ellis brought a team and they burnt the remainder of the house down for her. He told her they were not allowed to remove the rubble. Ms. Champion told him that was fine because she wanted it as a reminder of her childhood and upbringing. The rubble is still there. (R. p. 203, line 21-p. 204, line 5; R. p. 231, lines 7-13; R. p. 243, line 20-p. 244, line 24.) The Respondents' attorney, George O'Kelley, the Appellants' attorney, Marc Fisher, Georgia Champion and Constance Cooper, Rufus and Mary Taylor's niece, went to the site following the first hearing and located the rubble. They located the metal roof and chimney of the house, electrical wires and the water meter formerly used at the house that Ms. Champion now

uses on her property on Lot 7. (R. p. 346, lines 8-p. 348, line 25; R. pp. 466-471.) Ms. Champion has watched over the property for her family:

Q. . . . Even though the property has become over grown, have you considered it your family duty to watch over the property - -

A. Yes.

Q. - - since you had that - - the house taken down.

A. Yes.

Q. And I think you indicated you wanted the house taken down because it became a danger because of an earlier fire?

A. Right. They had an earlier fire there at the house. We was [sic] renting it out. My mom was renting it out. And the gentleman who she rented to, I guess he got - - he was drinking and he - - the house caught on fire.

Q. But you - - so you don't feel in any way that you've abandoned this property?

A. No.

Q. Even though it's become overgrown?

A. No. I still make sure that it's - - you know, even though it has rubble and, you know a lot of stuff there, and I left it there purposely, but so far as trash or anything, I make sure there is - - the area keeps clean and then in summer months I normally keep the grass around that side trimmed down pretty neat.

(R. p. 374, line 11-p. 375, line 12.)

Respondents Martha Brown and Maxine Taylor both admitted that they grew up in the brick house below Warsaw Road. (R. p. 147, lines 20-22; R. p. 155, lines 1-15; [Def. Exh. 3 – *separately filed*].) As children, they both played with Georgia Champion and Willie Mae Stewart who lived above Warsaw Road with their grandparents, Rufus and Mary Taylor, on Lot 9. (R. p. 148, lines 2-16; R. p. 150, lines 10-16; R. p. 165, lines 21-24; [Def. Exh. 3 – *separately filed*].)

Thomas Brown, who was a neighbor of both parties for 18 years, stated that Rufus and Mary Taylor's property was within Lot 9. (R. p. 284, line 23-p. 285, line 11.) He stated that Rufus and Mary Taylor farmed the land north and south of Warsaw Road. (R. p. 286, line 3-p. 287, line 1.) Mr. Brown testified that James Taylor farmed closer to his home. (R. p. 287, lines 7-8.) Maxine Taylor confirmed that her father, James Taylor, did not farm or utilize the property north of Warsaw Road. (R. 166, lines 11-12.)

Following her father, James Taylor's death, Martha Brown was clearing the northwestern portion of Lot 9 to erect a mobile home. Prior to its erection, Georgia Champion, Marjory Kemp and Albertha Goodwine, all relatives and heirs of William Taylor, went to Ms. Brown's home. At that time, she was living with her sister in the brick house on the southeastern portion of Lot 9. They informed Ms. Brown that she was clearing the wrong property. Ms. Brown slammed the door and refused to discuss the situation. (R. p. 206, 3-15; R. p. 253, lines 9-23.) They tried to talk to her on several other occasions about the issue, but Ms. Brown would not talk to them. (R. p. 206, line 17-p. 207, line 5.) Tommy Brown, Ms. Brown's son, verified that a complaint was made regarding the location of his mother's mobile home. (R. p. 394, lines 10-22; R. p. 397, line 22-p. 398, line 7.)

Following the hearings, the master requested post-trial briefs from the parties that set forth their positions. (R. pp. 510-521.) The master entered judgment on February 9, 2015 finding that Maxine Taylor was the sole owner of the southern portion of Lot 9, south of Warsaw Road and that Stanley Taylor, Joe A. Taylor, Thomas Brown, Jr. and Aries T. Brown were the owners of the northern portion of Lot 9, north of Warsaw Road. (R. p. 8.) The master concluded that the Appellants, the Heirs of William Taylor, had failed to show any proof of ownership. (R. p. 9.)

**ARGUMENTS**  
**(Standard of Review)**

An action to quiet title is generally an action in equity. *Jones v. Leagan*, 384 S.C. 1, 10, 681 S.E.2d 6, 11 (Ct. App. 2009). “In an equitable action tried without a jury, the appellate court can correct errors of law and may find facts in accordance with its own view of the preponderance of the evidence.” *Church v. McGee*, 391 S.C. 334, 342, 705 S.E.2d 481, 485 (Ct. App. 2011). However, “when the defendant’s answer raises an issue of paramount title to land, such as would, if established, defeat the plaintiff’s action, the issue of title is legal.” *Dargan v. Tankersley*, 380 S.C. 480, 483, 671 S.E.2d 73, 74 (2008). “When a suit involves both legal and equitable issues, each cause of action retains its own identity as legal or equitable for purposes of the applicable standard of review on appeal.” *Holly Woods Ass’n of Residence Owners v. Hiller*, 392 S.C. 172, 180, 708 S.E.2d 787, 792 (2011). “An appellate court may determine questions of law with no particular deference to the trial court.” *Verenes v. Alvanos*, 387 S.C.11, 14, 690 S.E.2d 771, 772-73 (2010).

**I. The master erred in concluding that the Respondents were the sole owners of Lot 9 when the Appellants, the Heirs of William Taylor, presented sufficient evidence to show that they were the true owners of a portion of Lot 9.**

The plaintiff must make out complete title unless the claim is from a common source in which case the superior title will prevail. *Griggs v. Griggs*, 199 S.C. 295, 295, 19 S.E.2d 477, 479 (1942). “In an action to quiet title, the plaintiff must recover on the strength of his own title, not on the alleged weakness of the defendant’s title.” *Hoogenboom v. City of Beaufort*, 315 S.C. 306, 313, 433 S.E.2d 875, 880 (Ct. App. 1992).

As more thoroughly discussed below, besides the erroneous tax deeds, Respondents did not submit any evidence that they owned all of Lot 9. Appellants, the Heirs of William Taylor presented substantial evidence to indicate that they had been in possession of the northern and

southwestern portion of Lot 9 for generations. Therefore, the master erred in failing to award Appellants, the Heirs of William Taylor, sole ownership to the northern and southwestern portion of Lot 9.

**A. The evidence proved that the Heirs of William Taylor were the rightful owners of the northern and southwestern portion of Lot 9.**

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