ORIGINAL

RECEIVED

DEC 02 2015

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM BEAUFORT COUNTY
Master in Equity

The Honorable Marvin H. Dukes III, Master in Equity

Case No. 2015-000342

Maxine Taylor, Respondent

v.

Heirs of William Taylor, Heirs of E. Washington, Heirs of Phoebe Taylor, Heirs of Albertha Goodwine, and all persons unknown designated as a class; Richard Roe, and Beaufort County, SC, a body politic, Defendants.

Of whom Heirs of William Taylor, Heirs of E. Washington, Heirs of Phoebe Taylor, And Heirs of Albertha Goodwine are the Appellants.

Stanley Taylor, Joe A. Taylor and Martha T. Brown, Respondents,

v.

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

ARGUMENTS

- I. **The master erred in concluding that the Respondents were the sole owners of Lot 9 when the Appellants, the Heirs of William Taylor, presented sufficient evidence to show that they were the true owners of a portion of Lot 9.**

Respondents disagree with Appellant's assertions. The Respondents (Plaintiffs) met the burden of proof in establishing their titles. As stated, Appellants could produce no deeds showing any interest in Lot 9; whereas, Appellants established deeds back to 1937. Ex 3. The trial judge's order sets forth the chains of title. Appellants asserted claim via adverse possession failed for lack of any evidence.

Appellants advance the idea that the tax deeds into James Taylor were erroneous. The deed obtained in 1996 (Plaintiff's Ex. 9) (Respondents' Ex. 3) described land bound on the north by the marsh, east by the remainder of Phoebe Taylor's land and south by the highway. The real way it is nailed down as being Respondent's is that it states it is bound on the west by land of Geneva and Rufus Taylor. This, again, confirms the so-called Rufus Taylor land is in Lot 7.

The next tax deed, done in 1998, (Plaintiff's Ex. 10), (Respondents' Ex. 4) describes the other part of the north section of Lot 9. This description states it is bound on the west by land of James Taylor. Clearly, this is the northeast part of Lot 9. The trial judge correctly saw this and ruled accordingly.

The evidence submitted showed that the old house claimed to be owned by the heirs of William Taylor was on the wrong parcel. And, even if the Appellants may have had some claim to a part of Lot 9, that claim vanished based on Section 12-51-90, of the Code of Laws for South

Carolina. A defaulting taxpayer has a year to redeem the property: Also, Section 12-51-160 applies. In cases of a deed of conveyance from a tax sale, an action for recovery must be brought within two years from the date of sale. This was not done.

And, as stated in the Statement of the Case, the quiet title action brought by Appellants' family pertained to Lot 7, which is immediately west of Lot 9. This coupled with the testimony about the lines offered by Cindy Spencer (Transcript of July 9, 2013, pages 76-100). That testimony was the clearest evidence of the titles and Respondents are shown as owners of Lot 9. Georgia Champion received a deed to the property in the northern part of Lot 7. (Respondents' Ex. 5)

A. The evidence proved that the Heirs of William Taylor were the rightful owners of the northern and southwestern portion of Lot 9.

Respondents established at trial that the parcel numbers on the tax records were mixed up and questionable as to Warsaw Island. Appellants rely on a 1954 record or property tax card. Appellants admit to parcels "switch" by the County. Beaufort County was made a party to this action. The order of the trial court instructs the County to make the necessary adjustments to the parcel numbers.

The tax sales in the 1990s were not attacked and not set aside. Even if Appellants' ancestors had a claim which Respondents deny, it vanished after due process via the tax sales. More will be argued hereinafter on these points.

B. Respondents did not prove that they had complete title to the northern and southwestern portion of Lot 9.

Respondents assert that the Appellants' witness verified that description could be vague. Indeed in locating boundaries, resort is first made to natural landmarks, then artificial marks, then adjacent boundaries and last to courses and distances. *Lake View Development Co. v. Tindale*, 412 S.E. 2d 457, 306 S.C. 477 (1991). Also, the quantity of land set out in a deed is one of the lowest in the scale of importance. *Klapman v. Hook*, 32 S.E. 2d 882, 206 S.C. 51 (1945). These two cases certainly apply in the present action and are in sync with Respondents' contentions.

We must remember that the north-south lines were always agreed upon by everyone. The boundary between lots 7 and 9 never was changed.

Appellants argue Respondents never proved ownership to all of Lot 9. But, a review of the deeds shows Respondents have ownership back to 1937 and five deeds since convey the property within Respondents family. (Respondents' Exs. 6, 7, 8 and 9)

While Appellants argue we have a duty to set forth a complete title, they have set forth no title documents for Lot 9. We once again reference the 1998 quiet title Appellants family did for the land next door. (Respondents' Ex. 10)

Appellants say the ruling by the trial judge was vague and incomplete. On appeal of an action at law by judge alone, the review will extend to errors of law, but the trial judge's finding of fact will not be disturbed if there is evidence to support the findings. *Brown v. Allstate*

Insurance Co., 523 S.E. 2d 807, 337 S.C. 499 (1999). Only a finding that the findings are wholly unsupported by the evidence will warrant a reversal, *Auto Owners Insurance Co. v. Langford*, 506 S.E 2d 496, 330 SC 578 (1998).

And, in a title to real estate case, a legal issue is involved. In a law case tried by a judge only the , only the standard of reviews is limited to a correction of errors of law and a determination if there is any evidence to support the factual findings. *Cook v. Eller*, 380 S.E. 2d 853, 298 S.C. 395 (1989).

An interpretation of deeds is an equitable matter. An appellant court reviews evidence to determine first in accordance with its view of the preponderance of the evidence. *Reyhani v. Stone Creek Cove Condominium II H.P.R.* 494 S.E. 2d 465, 329 S.C. 206 (1997).

Clearly the trial judge set forth finding of first in a complete and straight forward narrative that was based on all the evidence. His order should stand.

II. . Alternatively, the Heirs of William Taylor established title to the property through adverse possession and the master erred in awarding all of Lot 9 to Respondents.

Appellants asserted in their amended answer a claim of adverse possession. At trial they offered no convincing evidence of any such possession.

In particular, as to the southern portion of Lot 9, to the west of Maxine Taylor's land, Christopher Champion received a deed to the southern part of Lot 7. (Respondents' Ex. 11)

No evidence was presented at trial to show adverse possession in any way by Christopher Champion, or anyone else.

As to the northern portion, Appellants rely on the fact that a house once existed on this part of Lot 9. However, it was destroyed and abandoned for many years, probably before 1972. No evidence was offered that Appellants continued with any occupancy of Lot 9. And when a deed was issued, it was for the northern part of Lot 7.

Appellants failed to show they met the elements of an adverse possession claim. Such a claim must be by clear and convincing evidence. Proof must establish all the elements (Actual, open, notorious, hostile, continuous and exclusive). *Clark v. Hargrove* 473 S.E. 2d 474, 323 S.C. 84 (1996).

Appellants could show no deeds, estates or other evidence of a claim of title to any part of Lot 9.

A. The Heirs of William Taylor actually possessed the subject property in Lot 9.

This argument must fail. The Appellants state color of title is to define the extend of the claim, citing *Graniteville Co. v. Williams*, 39 S.E. 2d 202, 207, 209 SC 112 (1946). Nowhere at trial was the "extent of the claim" set out. Appellants point to the ruins of a house, but gave no distances, acreage, etc. They cite *Butler v. Lindsey* 363 S.E. 2d 621, 623, 293 S.C. 466, 470 (1987) in saying "constructive possession applies. But they never identified the premises.

There was no fencing, continuous use or exercise of dominion.

Appellants go on to say their ancestor possessed the northern and southwestern parts of Lot 9. This is not so. At best, they showed that someone may have lived on the southwest part of the portion of Lot 9 to the north of the road before 1972.

The Appellants rely on occupancy, but it was clear that this was a matter of an encroachment and such does not form the basis of adverse possession. *Lynch v. Lynch*, 115 S.E.2d 301, 236 S.C. 612 (1960). Mistaken belief that someone is actually on their land, when they are not, does not amount to adverse possession. *Clark v. Hargrove, supra*.

Possession by mistake is insufficient to establish the hostile element of adverse possession. *Cook v. Eller*, 380 S. E.2d 853, 298 S.C. 395 (1989).

Said another way, no intent to make a claim does not become adverse possession. *Cook v. Eller, supra*.

Again, as to a claim of color of title, the claimant has to show the extent of such possession. *Clark v. Hargrove, supra*. This was not done.

And, the tax titles in the 1990s extinguish any possible ownership in Appellants.

B. The Heirs of William Taylor's possession of the subject property in Lot 9 was open and notorious.

We have previously discussed the elements required to prove adverse possession. All of the elements must be present.

The errors Respondents point out is when Appellants reference the 1937 deed and indicate the western boundary is by "lands now or formerly of the Estate of William Taylor".

The 1937 deed into Phoebe Taylor describes Lot 9, which puts William Taylor next door in Lot 7.

Next, Appellants describe the 1960 deed to James Taylor. However, Appellants are wrong as to the placement of this land. James Taylor's deed is for the southern part of Lot 9. The description states it runs from a point on a public road where it joins lands of Gardner. The rest of the description clearly is for the parcel in the southern part of Lot 9. Where it joins land of William Taylor is the boundary that separates Maxine Taylor's parcel from Christopher Champion.

Again, no adverse possession claim can carry the day. Absolutely no evidence was given to claim any of the southern part of Lot 9. And no clean and convincing evidence has overcome the weight of evidence advanced by Respondents.

C. The Heirs of William Taylor's possession of the subject property in Lot 9 was hostile.

Hostile possession is one element of adverse possession. The Brief of Appellants, states the Heirs of William Taylor believed they owned the property. Occupation does not equate to hostility or adverse possession. Use is not adverse possession, *Getsinger v. Midlands Orthopedia Profit Sharing Plan*, 489 S.E.2d 223, 327 S.C. 424 (1997).

As stated previously, mistake is not a way to get property by adverse possession. *Clark v. Hargrove, supra; Brown v. Clemens*, 338 S.E. 2d 338, 287 S.C. 328 (1985).

The elements have been mentioned previously, and hostile nature of a claim is essential. Mere possession does not show hostility. *Butler v. Lindsey, supra*.

There has to be an intent to dispossess the owner. *Lusk v. Callahan, supra*.

There are numerous cases that require hostility in the form of notice of design and mistaken belief is not going to make it. *Wigfall v. Fobbs*, 367 S.E.2d 156, 295 S.C. 59 (1988).

Only when Martha Brown put her home on the land did someone say she was on their property. But this was over 30 years after the house was abandoned and about 10 years after the tax sale. Again, no issue was made about the tax sale over the statutory period allowed.

D. The Heirs of William Taylor's possession of the subject property in Lot 9 was continuous and exclusive for the statutory period of ten (10) years.

No one in the William Taylor family has been in possession of the property for over forty years. The Appellants argue the same things that have been submitted heretofore. By their own admission, their family members have not been in continuous and exclusive possession. The home burned sometime after 1972. Mr. Champion returned to Warsaw Island about 1997, which is a gap of 25 years.

Also, the tax sales conducted for 1994 taxes and 1996 taxes (two parcels sold). Reference is to the two tax deeds to James Taylor. (Ex. 4 & 5)

The sales were for lands of Phoebe Taylor. Plats acknowledge that the northern portion of Lot 9 was "N/F Phoebe Taylor". Reference is to the 1996 plat made by David S. Youmans RLS, (Ex#) which references this. We note that plat was for Rufus and Geneva Taylor and divided Lot 7 into Parcel "C", "D" and "F". No exception was known to be taken in 1996 or after about the ownership of Lot 9.

Also, Mr. Youmans testified, (pages 22-70 of the transcript of July 29, 2013) and that plat was then introduced. He stated that was done for their quiet title action. He further testified that the conversed with Georgia Champion and she was told her driveway curled onto the neighbor's property (transcript pages 30 and 41). He also said that part of her drain field went across the line "a little bit". (Transcript page 43).

Still, Appellants did nothing to assert the claim they now advance.

III. Appellants, the Heirs of William Taylor, adversely possessed the northern and southwestern portion of Lot 9 for generations and for a period greater than twenty (20) years, entitling them to the presumption of a grant.

The law cited by Appellants does not square with the facts. Appellants have failed to establish the elements of adverse possession. So, ouster, tacking and continuous possession cannot be in play.

Adverse possession for 20 years raises presumption of a grant. *May v. Jeter*, 141 S.E.2d 655, 245 S.C. 529 (1965). But if the possession is permissive, the argument of presumption of a grant fails. *DeLaine v. DeLaine*, 44 S.E.2d 422, 211 S.C. 273 (1947).

Also, the Appellants never established any boundary or extent of the alleged claim. They had no deed, no survey and no exactness of the claim. Such a claim cannot be nebulous. If someone is going to take the land of another, the extent of such must be identified.

The trial court found that the tax deeds prevailed and that the Rufus Taylor property was in Lot 7. The evidence was clear that the Appellants could not and did not establish any

title in Lot 9.

Adverse possession must be strictly construed in favor of the owner of land.

And possession must be uninterrupted, along with all of the required elements. *King v. Hawkins* 319 S.E. 2d 361, 282 S.C. 508 (1984).

IV. Alternatively, the boundary line was mutually recognized and acquiesced for the prescribed statute of limitations of ten (10) years.

Appellants assert the master erred in failing to award them the property. Again, Respondents ask: Where is the property they claim? They produced no survey, no deed, no boundary description. The only evidence we can state that shows as on Lot 9 was the abandoned and ruined house. We must once again go to the two tax deeds, the early deed to Phoebe Taylor and the fact that Appellants predecessors cleared the title to the William and Rufus Taylor lands in Lot 7. Phoebe obtained the northern part of Lot 9 vice the 1937 deed. The tax levies were against her. James Taylor bought the properties at the tax sale. The Master in Equity found there was not enough to attack or set aside the Respondents' title to Lot 9.

V. The master failed to set forth specific findings of fact to support its conclusion of law as required under Rule 52(a) of the South Carolina Rules of Civil Procedure.

Respondents disagree. The Master in Equity made 19 separate findings of fact and conclusions of law. He ruled with specificity and his findings provide a step by step analysis of the case.

Appellants do not provide any real basis to support this argument. Their only example is to say the court did not address the adverse possession claims. In finding Number 7, the court stated no evidence was presented as to adverse possession on Maxine Taylor's land (the southern part of Lot 9). Findings Number 8 through 19 specifically address the issues regarding the northern part of Lot 9.